# JAN 1 4 2015

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By......

# NO. 328783-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

# TOM G. LUTZ and KAREN LUTZ, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

 $\mathbf{V}_{\bullet}$ 

LISA BUFFINGTON,

. • •

Defendant/Appellant,

# **APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT**

## HONORABLE RANDALL KROG

# **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

### **BEN SHAFTON**

Attorney for Defendant/Appellant Caron, Colven, Robison & Shafton 900 Washington Street, Suite 1000 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 699-3001

# **

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED

5

٠

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1: The Trial Court Erred by Entering the Ruling of the Court dated February 1, 2014.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 2: The Trial Court Erred by Entering the Order of Denial Dated February 27, 2014.

Issues Pertaining to Both the Above Assignments of Error:

Issue No. 1: Should this action have been dismissed because it was a compulsory counterclaim in the prior action between the parties?

Issue No. 2: Should this action have been dismissed because necessary parties were not joined?

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 3: The Trial Court Erred by Entering the Amended Ruling of the Court.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 4: The Trial Court Erred by Entering the Judgment/Decree Condemning/Granting Private Way of Necessity.

## Issues Pertaining to Both the Above Assignments of Error:

Issue No. 1: Were the plaintiffs entitled to a private way of necessity when they have an easement implied by necessity over land once owned by their grantor?

Issue No. 2: Can the plaintiffs claim the necessity required for relief under RCW 8.24 when they delayed for many years before bringing this action?

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 5: The Trial Court Erred by Awarding Compensation in the Amount of \$1,180.00.

Issue No. 1: Did sufficient evidence justify the trial court's decision on compensation when plaintiffs' appraiser relied on the sales comparison approach to establish value; did not identify any comparable transactions; and acknowledged that the value of the easement that the plaintiffs' sought in this action could be based on the amount necessary for the plaintiffs to secure alternate access to a public road?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## I. <u>Underlying Facts</u>.<sup>1</sup>

Ponderosa Park is a subdivision near Goldendale in Klickitat County, Washington. The parcels within the subdivision are all approximately five (5) acres in size. It was platted in 1978-79. (CP 177) A

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This case was tried to the court. By its terms, the Amended Ruling of the Court is its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. There is little dispute concerning most of the factual matters. Therefore, most of the references will be to the Amended Ruling of the Court. The references will be to a page within the Clerk's Papers and a paragraph. The legend "FF" will refer what the Amended Ruling of the Court calls Findings of Fact. Some of the Conclusions of Law also contain factual findings. Where appropriate, these will be designated as "CL."

homeowners' association called Ponderosa Park Owners Association was incorporated to govern the subdivision in 1977. There have been Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CCRs) in place for the subdivision since its inception. The CCRs have been amended from time to time. The most recent amendment was adopted in 1999. There are private roads within the subdivision. Their maintenance and use is governed by the CCRs. Among these private roads are Tamarack Road and E. Ponderosa Drive. (CP 177, FF 1; Ex. 21, 38)

The developers of Ponderosa Park were William Kershaw, Jr., Lawrence Letterman, and Margaret Letterman. The land within the subdivision was owned by Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. Mr. Kershaw and the Lettermans were principals of Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. (Ex. 10, 42)

Plaintiffs/Respondents Tom Lutz and Karen Lutz (the Lutzes) own property outside but adjacent to Ponderosa Park. The parties and the trial court have referred to the Lutzes' parcels by their tax lot number as shown on Exhibit 20. These are lots 110, 112, and 113.

Mr. Lutz and his then spouse purchased Lot 113 in 1973 for \$2,500.00. The parcel had no access to any public road. Mr. Lutz reached the road by going onto E. Ponderosa Drive to Aspen Road, another private

road within Ponderosa Park, and approaching Lot 113 on foot. (CP 177,  $FF 2)^2$ 

On March 24, 1996, Lisa Buffington and her now deceased husband, Dennis Lemler, entered into a Real Estate Contract with Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. to purchase Lot 82 of Ponderosa Park. The contract filed of record with the Klickitat County Auditor on March 25, 1996. (CP 178, FF 6; Ex. 9)<sup>3</sup> As can be seen, Lot 82 forms a right triangle. (Ex. 20, 21)

Ernest Brokaw and E. Jean Brokaw sold Lots 110 and 112 to the Lutzes in 1996. The transaction is evidenced by a Statutory Warranty Deed filed with the Klickitat County Auditor on September 30, 1996. (CP 178, FF 3; Ex. 7) These lots were part of a larger holding that had been in the Brokaw family for many years. The Brokaws retained other land that fronts on Pipeline Road, a public thoroughfare. (CP 178, FF 3; Ex. 56)

At the time of the conveyance in 1996, there was no road or other path over the Brokaw property between Pipeline Road and Lots 110 and 112. There was also no discussion about the Brokaws granting an easement to the Lutzes over their property to Pipeline Road. (CP 178, FF

3, 5)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Aspen Road is depicted on Exhibit 21.
<sup>3</sup> Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. issued a Fulfillment Deed in March of 2006. (Ex. 10)

Also on September 30, 1996, Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. granted an easement to Mr. Lutz across the northern sixty feet of Lot 82. The land over which this easement ran formed another right triangle at the lot's north end. The easement was described as a "non-exclusive perpetual EASEMENT 60 feet in width which easement is for the purpose of ingress and egress" over Lot 82, Ms. Buffington's parcel. The easement by its terms ran in perpetuity with Lot 110 only. The Lutzes were also granted a non-exclusive perpetual easement for the use of all roads located within all recorded plats of Ponderosa Park. (CP 68; Ex. 8) Ms. Buffington was not advised of this easement and did not consent to it. (CP 178, FF 6)

The Lutzes then placed one manufactured home on Lot 110 and another on Lot 113. They constructed a gravel road that they called "Lutz Parkway" to provide access for the two manufactured homes. Lutz Parkway goes over the north sixty (60) feet of Lot 82 and intersects with Tamarack Road, one of the private roads in Ponderosa Park. The persons residing in the manufactured homes would go over Tamarack Road to E. Ponderosa Drive and then take E. Ponderosa Drive to the public thoroughfare, Pipeline Road. (CP 179 FF 9, 11)

In 1997, Mr. Kershaw, the Lettermans, and Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. deeded private road easements within the subdivision to all the subdivision's lots. (CP 85-88; Ex. 42)

5

In 2004, the Brokaws sold the remainder of their holdings in the area, including the land that fronts on Pipeline Road, to Gene Cyrus and Judith Cyrus (the Cyruses)<sup>4</sup> (CP 178, FF 3; Ex. 30) The Cyruses subsequently divided a portion of this property into two short subdivisions of four parcels each. They created Dancing Mountain Road as a private road between the two short subdivisions. Dancing Mountain Road intersects with Pipeline Road. (CP 178, FF 3; Ex. 22, 31, 32)

The Lutzes' tenants have not endeared themselves to Ms. Buffington and other Ponderosa Park residents. The tenant on Lot 113 has been investigated for marijuana production. There have also been instances of discharge of firearms near the property. The tenants have exceeded the posted speed limits on the subdivision's private roads. They have been noisy. They have allowed their dogs to roam freely. (CP 181, FF 23) This is upsetting to Ms. Buffington because she and Mr. Lemler bought Lot 82 because of its semi-rural nature and their desire to recreate there. (CP 178, FF 7)

The Appendix contains Exhibits 20 and the first of two pages of Exhibits 21 and 22. Exhibit 20 shows Lots 110, 112, and 113 along with Ms. Buffington's Lot 82. To the east and southeast of Lot 113 is land

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> By this time, Mr. Brokaw had passed away. The deed given to the Cyruses was signed by Mrs. Brokaw and a daughter, Margaret Brokaw.

marked as Lots 9-14. This property is part of the land retained by the Brokaws in 1996 and sold to the Cyruses in 2004. Pipeline Road is east of the parcels pictured on Exhibit 20. Exhibit 21 is a map of lots within Ponderosa Park. The subdivision's private roads, including Aspen Road, Tamarack Road, and E. Ponderosa Drive are depicted here. (Exhibit 22 is a section map) The area in question is in a rectangle toward the bottom of the map. It shows all roads of interest here including Aspen Road, Tamarack Road, E. Ponderosa Drive, Lutz Parkway, Dancing Mountain Road, and Pipeline Road.

II. <u>The First Suit</u>.

In 2006, Ms. Buffington sued to invalidate the grant of the easement over Lot 82 in that case entitled *Buffington v. Lutz*, Klickitat County Superior Court No. 06-200257-7. The court concluded that Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. did not have the authority to grant the easement that it granted to Mr. and Mrs. Lutz over Lot 82. It further ruled that the Lutzes were on notice of the inability of Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. to grant them the easement because of the prior recording of the CCRs and the Real Estate Contract to Ms. Buffington and Mr. Lemler. It quieted title in Lot 82 free of all claims that the Lutzes might make under the terms of the easement. It stayed the effectiveness of the decree quieting title for a period of ninety (90) days. The court declined to rule on the validity of the

grant of the easement over the other private roads within Ponderosa Park. (CP 49-56; CP 180, FF 17; Ex. 1, 40)

#### III. Proceedings in the Present Action.

On June 30, 2009, the Lutzes filed this action seeking to condemn a private way of necessity over Lot 82. (CP 1-7) Their Amended Petition was filed on April 5, 2011. (CP 8-13) Ms. Buffington answered the Amended Petition. As affirmative defenses, she stated that the action was barred because it amounted to a compulsory counterclaim that should have been brought in the previous action. She also alleged that the Lutzes had failed to join necessary parties consisting of other owners of lots within Ponderosa Park. Her answer was filed on June 7, 2012. (CP 16-18) The Lutzes took no action to join any other lot owners within Ponderosa Park. (CP 27)

On January 8, 2014, Ms. Buffington moved for summary judgment to dismiss the action. (CP 19-36) Her motion was based on two contentions. She first asserted that the action to condemn the private way of necessity was barred because it should have been raised as a compulsory counterclaim in *Buffington v. Lutz, supra*. She also argued that the matter should be dismissed for failure to join other homeowners as necessary parties. These were the owners whose lots were encumbered by easements for Tamarack Road and E. Ponderosa Drive, part of the necessary route for anyone using the Lutz parcels. In support of the latter claim, she contended that Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. had no authority to grant the Lutzes an easement for private roads within the subdivision.

The court denied Ms. Buffington's motion for summary judgment. It ruled that the present action was not a compulsory counterclaim and that the other homeowners were not necessary parties. (CP 170-75)

The matter was subsequently tried to the court. It issued the Amended Ruling of the Court on August 15, 2014, and the Judgment/Decree Granting Private Way of Necessity on September 11, 2014. (CP 176-87, 193-96) These rulings allow the Lutzes a private way of necessity for the benefit of Lots 110, 112, and 113; granted compensation to Ms. Buffington; and awarded Ms. Buffington's attorney's fees.<sup>5</sup> Ms. Buffington then appealed. The Lutzes have not cross appealed.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1: The Trial Court Erred by Entering the Ruling of the Court Dated February 1, 2014.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 2: The Trial Court Erred by Entering the Order of Denial Dated February 27, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The precise content of the rulings at issue in this appeal will be discussed below.

## I. Standard of Review.

The trial court denied Ms. Buffington's motion for summary judgment and effectively struck her affirmative defenses. Since the matter was decided on summary judgment, the Appellate Court reviews the trial court's decision *de novo* performing the same inquiry as did the trial court. *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 6, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012).

Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions and other materials show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Association Board of Directors v. Blume Development Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990). There are no disputed facts on the issues presented by Ms. Buffington's summary judgment motion. The legal issues can therefore be decided summarily. As will be seen, the trial court misinterpreted the law, and its decision amounted to error.

II. <u>The Lutzes' Action to Condemn a Private Way of Necessity Is a</u> <u>Compulsory Counterclaim That They Should Have Brought in *Buffington* <u>v. Lutz</u>.</u>

The failure of a party to plead a compulsory counterclaim will prevent that party from subsequently bringing a separate action on that claim. Schoeman v. New York Life Insurance Co., 106 Wn.2d 855, 726 P.2d 1 (1986); Krikava v. Webber, 43 Wn.App. 217, 716 P.2d 916 (1986).

This notion is based on CR 13(a), which provides as follows in pertinent part:

**Compulsory Counterclaims.** Pleadings shall state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim and does not require for its adjudication, the presence of third parties of whom the court cannot acquire jurisdiction...

A liberal and broad construction is given to CR 13(a) to avoid a multiplicity of suits and to insure that all controversies among the parties will be settled in one action. *Schoeman v. New York Life Insurance Company, supra,* 106 Wn.2d at 864; *Chew v. Lord,* 143 Wn.App. 807, 816, 181 P.3d 25 (2008).

As CR 13(a) states, a compulsory counterclaim must arise out of the same transaction as the plaintiff's claim. A counterclaim arises from the same transaction if it is logically related to plaintiff's initial claim. Schoeman v. New York Life Insurance Company, supra, 106 Wn.2d at 865-866. Ms. Buffington's quiet title action — Buffington v. Lutz, supra — is logically related to the Lutzes' attempt to condemn a private way of necessity. Both claims deal with whether or not and upon what terms the Lutzes can cross Ms. Buffington's property. The court determined in Buffington v. Lutz, supra, that the Lutzes did not have a valid easement to do so. In this case, the Lutzes sought to condemn the easement that they did not validly have. The two are therefore logically related, and the Lutzes attempt to condemn a private way of necessity is a compulsory counterclaim under the terms of CR 13(a).

There is one exception to the compulsory counterclaim rule. A defendant need not plead any claim that matures after his or her answer has been filed. That exception comes from CR 13(e), which reads as follows:

**Counterclaim Maturing or Acquired After Pleading.** A claim which either matured or was acquired by the pleader after serving his pleading may, with permission of the court, be presented as a counterclaim by supplemental pleading.

The Lutzes claimed, and the trial court agreed, that the claims the Lutzes brought in this case did not mature until after the Court entered judgment in *Buffington v. Lutz, supra*. (CP 173) That conclusion was not correct.

The exception is discussed in Wright, Miller & Kane Federal

Practice and Procedure §1411 (1990) as follows:

This exception to the compulsory counterclaim requirement necessarily encompasses a claim that depends upon the outcome of some *other* lawsuit and thus does not come into existence until the action upon which it is based has terminated. . .However, a counterclaim will not be denied treatment as a compulsory counterclaim solely because recovery on it depends on the outcome of the main action. This approach seems sound when the counterclaim is based on pre-action events and only the right to relief depends upon the outcome of the main action.

This view was adopted by the Court in Chew v. Lord, supra, 143 Wn.App. at 814, and in Lane v. Skamania County, 164 Wn.App. 490, 498, 265 P.3d 156 (2011).

Under this test, the Lutzes' claim to condemn a private way of necessity had matured when Ms. Buffington sued in *Buffington v. Lutz, supra*. The easement granted by Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. was invalid the moment it was executed because, as the Superior Court found, Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. lacked the authority to grant it. In fact, and once again as the court concluded in *Buffington v. Lutz, supra*, the Lutzes were on notice of the infirmity of the easement because that infirmity was apparent from public record. (CP 54; Ex. 40, p. 6; CL 3) This conclusion is especially apt where Lots 112 and 113 are concerned. The easement granted to the Lutzes in 1996 was appurtenant only to Lot 110. The Lutzes were simply not given an easement meant to benefit Lot 112 or Lot 113. They were on notice that they had no easement over Lot 82 that would benefit these two lots.

The Lutzes are expected to contend that their claim had not matured until after the Superior Court invalidated the easement they received in 1996. This argument fails. All the court did in *Buffington v*.

13

*Lutz, supra*, was to declare in 2009 a state of affairs that had existed since the easement was granted in 1996.

It is true, of course, that the Lutzes' would have to condemn a private way of necessity under RCW 8.24 only if Ms. Buffington successfully invalidated the easement in *Buffington v. Lutz, supra*. But as stated above, a counterclaim is compulsory even though recovery on it depends on the outcome of the main action. The action to condemn a private way of necessity is still, therefore, logically related to the action to invalidate the easement and a compulsory counterclaim in *Buffington v. Lutz, supra*.

The Lutzes' action for relief under RCW 8.24 was logically related to Ms. Buffington's claim to invalidate the easement that they received in 1996. This claim had matured prior to their filing their answer in *Buffington v. Lutz, supra*. It was therefore a compulsory counterclaim in that action. The trial court erred by failing to grant summary judgment dismissing the instant action on that basis.

#### III. The Lutzes' Did Not Join Necessary Parties.

The Lutzes and their tenants must go over E. Ponderosa Drive to Tamarack Road and over Tamarack Road to Ms. Buffington's parcel to reach the Lutzes' property. This route takes them over land in twenty (20) other lots. (CP 95-96) The Court did not have jurisdiction over the matter

14

because the owners of those lots had not been joined. The Lutzes' action should have been dismissed on that basis.

A court lacks jurisdiction to act if all necessary parties are not joined. *Henry v. Town of Oakville*, 30 Wn.App. 240, 243, 633 P.2d 892 (1981); *Treyz v. Pierce County*, 118 Wn.App. 458, 462, 76 P.3d 292 (2003). The definition of a necessary party is stated in CR 19(a) as follows:

> A person who is subject to service of process and whose joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action shall be joined as a party in the action if (1) in his absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or (2) he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may (A) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest or (B) leave any of the persons already a party subject to substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligation by reason of his claimed interest...

All the homeowners in Ponderosa Park are necessary parties to this action because they each have a right in the land comprising Tamarack Road and E. Ponderosa Drive. At very least, the owners of land encumbered by the easements for Tamarack Rd. and E. Ponderosa Dr. are necessary parties because the route to be taken by the Lutzes and their tenants goes over their property. Therefore, complete relief cannot be afforded among the parties because complete relief requires determination of whatever rights the Lutzes' have to the entire proposed route between their property and Pipeline Road. That makes the other owners necessary parties pursuant to CR 19(a)(1). They are also necessary parties under CR 19(a)(2)(A) because of their claimed interest to the land that they own and the rights of others to pass over it and their inability to protect that interest unless they are made parties.

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