APR 0 8 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY

NO. 328783-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

TOM G. LUTZ and KAREN LUTZ, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

٧.

LISA A. BUFFINGTON,

Defendant/Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KLICKITAT COUNTY

HONORABLE RANDALL KROG

RESPONDENTS' APPELLATE BRIEF

BEN SHAFTON

Attorney for Defendant/Appellant Caron, Colven, Robinson & Shafton 900 Washington Street, Suite 1000 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 699-3001

ERNEST L. NICHOLSON Attorney for Plaintiffs/Respondents, Nicholson Legal Services PLLC 500 Broadway Street, Suite 360 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 314-6887

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The trial court's Ruling on Summary Judgment Motion (CP 16) and Amended Ruling of the Court (CP 18), which contain the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, is a succinct and accurate Statement of the Case for purposes of reviewing the issues appealed and affirming the trial court in every respect. Any Findings not excepted to are verities on appeal.

Respondents Lutz ("Lutz") emphasize the court's Findings and supplement Appellant Buffington's ("Buffington") Statement of the Case as follows.

Procedurally the status is that Lutz promptly paid Buffington and fully satisfied the trial court judgment monetary obligations for both the compensation for the private way of necessity granted, and for the attorney fees and costs awarded. (CP 99, CP 106.) Buffington nevertheless has appealed.

I. History of the Parties' Acquisition, Possession and Use.

٠Ĭ

Buffington purchased Lot 82 with full knowledge it was abutted on the east and south sides by large-acreage parcels that were outside Ponderosa Park and not restricted by the CC&Rs of that development/association. She purchased Lot 82 pursuant to its legal description which was record notice of other restrictions on its use, including but not limited to 30 feet of Tamarack Road, a trail easement, well easement, and right of ways for placement of utilities. (Ex. 9 - purchase contract; Ex. 10 – deed; Ex 2; Ex. 3, Ex. 4; CP 18, P.177 [FF No. 1, lines 14-15].

Buffington contracted to purchase and took possession of Lot 82 in March, 1996. Since that time her only improvements to her lot are the erection of a small cabin, sheds and an outhouse. Water, electric and septic services are not connected. (CP 18, 179 [FF No. 7, last line; RP E. J. Walker Testimony {"RP WT"}, P. 11, lines 8-13; Ex. 19 - Walker appraisal, Pp. 21 and 25.) Buffington filed the First Case on September 26, 2006 a few days short of a ten-year period that elapsed after Lutz acquisition of Lutz parcels 110 and 112 and the GE. (CP 7, 40 {Shafton

Declaration attachment, First Case Complaint trial court clerk file stamped Sep 26 2006; CP 18, 176, lines 15-16.)

1

On September 30, 1996 Lutz received delivery of, and recorded with the county Auditor, their deeds to 110 and 112 and the later invalidated GE over Buffington's Lot 82. (Ex.7; Ex. 8.; CP 11, 139 - Lutz Declaration {"Lutz Dec."} p. 2, paragraphs 3 and 4;) In October 1996, Lutz used the roads of Ponderosa Park and the area described in the GE to construct the Lutz access road that became "Lutz Parkway." Over the ensuing years in full view of Buffington and the other Ponderosa Park property owners, Lutz continually used the roads and the GE to access, use and improve his parcels. The access, use and improvements were accomplished by passenger vehicles, logging equipment and vehicles, public utility equipment and vehicles, well drilling and septic systems installation equipment and vehicles, and manufactured home towing equipment and vehicles. Lutz tenants took up residence in the homes thus erected and accessed them pursuant to the believed to be valid GE. (CP 18, 179 [FF Nos. 8 and 9; CP 11, 139-140 - Lutz Dec., p. 3, paragraphs 4, 5 and 6.)

II. <u>Procedure and Outcome of the First Claim</u>. In the First Case Buffington, as plaintiff, sought quiet title to have the GE declared invalid.

Buffington based her suit on the grounds that Ponderosa Parcels, Inc. (principal Kershaw) had not reserved or retained authority to grant easements over Lot 82 after the sale to Buffington. Lutz, as defendant, counterclaimed to have the GE declared valid. (CP 7, 40-45 {Shafton Declaration attachments, First Case Complaint and First Case Answer and Counterclaim.}) The First Case was not decided on summary judgment. The First Case Findings, Conclusions and Judgment were not final and effective until after the trial on the merits. The effectiveness of the portion of the First Case Judgment and Decree that rendered the Lutz parcels landlocked, and which would have allowed Buffington to actually block Lutz access over Lot 82, was stayed for a 90 day period. This preserved the status quo allowing Lutz 90 days to determine how and where to seek permanent access, through private condemnation or otherwise, in light of the invalidity of the previously relied upon GE. (Ex. 1; Ex.40)

III. <u>Asserted Alternate "Routes" or "Roads" to Lutz Have Not Been</u> Constructed and Do Not Reach Lutz.

None of the "routes" or "roads" asserted by Buffington as alternates, to wit: Aspen, Golden Pine, Dancing Mountain or Teal Drive run to or touch a boundary of the Lutz parcels. The road between the platted parcels depicted on Cyrus' plat has not been constructed. (CP 18

181, 182 [FF Nos. 20 and 27]; RP-LT, P. 7, lines 10-18, P. 41, lines 9-21, P. 43, lines 24-25, P.44, lines1-8, P.50, Lines 15-25, P. 51, lines1-4, P. 60, lines5-12.

ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF AFFIRMANCE OF TRIAL COURT. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 1 AND 2.

IV. <u>Lack of Basis for 2009 Condemnation Claim Being a Compulsory</u> Counterclaim in the 2006 Quiet Title Case.

For the Lutz condemnation claim to be compulsory under CR 13(a) it had to arise out of the *transaction or occurrence* that was the subject matter of Buffington's First Case quiet tile action commenced in 2006¹. The transaction/occurrence at issue in the First Case was whether the Ponderosa Parcels Inc. had the authority to encumber Lot 82 with an easement for Lutz after its conveyance of Lot 82 to Buffington. The First Case was narrow in respect to the issue raised and decided. Only the validity of the GE that encumbered a small portion of Lot 82 was adjudicated in the First Case. The trial judge specifically declined to rule as to the validity of the GE in respect to the other roads in Ponderosa Park that traversed the property of other owners or the owners association. (Ex. 40, P. 6, portion of Conclusion of Law 2 omitted/stricken by the trial

¹ CR 13(a) and (e) are set forth in Appendix 1 hereto.

judge.) For a potential counterclaim to be said to arise out the same transaction or occurrence of the initial claim, the potential counterclaim must be "logically related" to the initial claim. *Schoeman v. New York Life Ins. Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 855, 865-66; 726 P.2d 1 (1986); *Chee Chew v. Lord*, 143 Wn. App. 807, 813, 181 P.3d 25 (2008).

The Lutz claim for a private way of necessity was not logically related to Buffington's initial claim for quiet title. The only relation between the two claims is that they involve the same contested piece of land and access to it. The quiet title action involved the GE transaction as to Lot 82. The condemnation claim arose out of the Lutz determination after the First Case that there were no more reasonable and feasible alternatives to again litigating with Buffington. A private way of necessity condemnation claim involves and must address and adjudicate the additional myriad issues required to be adjudicated by the subject condemnation statute, RCW 8.24.010, RCW 8.24.025.². Those issues are the selection, location and reasonableness of the chosen route, dimensions and scope of use of the chosen route, addressing any alternative routes asserted by the condemnee, and the valuation of the land condemned.

² RCW 8.24.010, 025 and .030 are set forth in Appendix 1 hereto.

Theses issue arose out of the landlocking of the Lutz parcels which didn't occur until the First Case was decided, and Lutzes' search for and elimination of other alternatives forced them to again litigate with Buffington. (CP 11, 141-142 [Declaration of Lutz, paragraphs 9 and 10.])

ű

Buffington argues logical relation by asserting: "Both claims deal with whether or not and upon what terms the Lutzes can cross Ms. Buffington's property." (Buffington brief, P. 11.) This is not true. The First Case only dealt with the issue of whether Lutz could cross Buffington. The issues of upon what terms was not before the court. It was cross or not cross. Valid or invalid. Terms of crossing were not before the court because if the GE was valid, the terms were contained therein. Ingress, egress, pay assessments, etc. (Ex. 8.)

Even if a new claim or counterclaim is determined to be logically related to an original claim, it is not necessarily considered compulsory. If the new claim had not matured at the time of the original filing, then as an exception to CR 13(a), the claim is not considered compulsory. CR 13(e); Lane v. Skamania County, 164 Wn. App. 490, 497-98; 265 P.3d 156 (2011); Chee Chew v. Lord, 143 Wn. App. 807, 813, 181 P.3d 25 (2008).

When does a claim "mature" for purposes of CR 13(a)? The simple answer is when it comes into existence. *Lane v. Skamania County*, 164 Wn. App. 490, 497-98; 265 P.3d 156 (2011); *Chee Chew v. Lord*, 143 Wn. App. 807, 813, 181 P.3d 25 (2008). The Lutz condemnation claim didn't arise, come into existence, until the First Case was finally decided and the landlock of the Lutz parcels occurred. The basis for a condemnation action under RCW 8.24.010 did not exist when Buffington commenced the First Case. Before a private condemnation action is authorized, the plaintiff condemnor must prove the nonexistence of access to show "reasonable necessity." In other words, only after an unfavorable determination in the First Case could Lutz substantively proceed with a private condemnation action.

Asserting that the condemnation claim was mature and ripe at the time of the First Case makes no sense under the facts and circumstances before the court on summary judgment. At the time of the litigation of the First Case, it didn't make sense to incur the cost of an appraisal on the issue of compensation, and address alternative routes if asserted, until there was a determination that condemnation was the only way to avoid the landlocked situation. In addition, it was not a situation where Lutz

ű

right to relief was all that was left to decide after the First Case. Only after the decision in the First Case was rendered did the necessity arise for Lutz to consider what relief needed to be sought. Only after considering other alternatives and routes as possible relief, did Lutz unfortunately have to litigate again with Buffington. (CP 11, 141-142 [Declaration of Lutz, paragraphs 9 and 10.])

ĩ

Lutzs' claim for private condemnation had not arose, was not mature, and was not logically related to the First case quiet title action for purposes of CR 13. The determinative issues in both actions were distinct and separate. Even if the claims were found to be related, the requirements for a statutory condemnation action did not exist until the title was officially quieted and the easement terminated. This condemnation case was not a compulsory counterclaim in the First Case. The trial court's denial of summary judgement and refusal to dismissal must be affirmed.

V. No Failure to Join Necessary Parties; No Necessity to Condemn a Private Way of Necessity Against any Parties Other than Buffington.

Buffington's argument that Lutz must join other lot owners and prove a right to use Ponderosa Park roads, or condemn such a right against other owners, is a *red herring*. Whether based on a grant, the GE,

RESPONDENTS' APPELLATE BRIEF - 10

prescription, a ripening based upon acquiescence detrimentally relied upon by Lutz, estoppel, or otherwise, Lutz has had the use of the Ponderosa Park roads. For 18+ years now Lutz has had continuous and interrupted use of the Ponderosa Park roads with actual or constructive knowledge of such use by the other owners and the owners association. (CP 11, 138-142, [Lutz Dec.]) Only Buffington belatedly has tried to block Lutz access. It could not be assumed during the First Case, and cannot be assumed even now after all these years, that other owners or the owners association will opt for litigation as opposed to continued acceptance of Lutz. The trial and appellate courts are being urged to create a lawsuit with a great number of "parties" where there isn't one. Buffington's argument is based on sheer speculation that other parties will now want to litigate with Lutz. The court cannot assume, regardless of how it decides this case, that other owners or the PPOA will do anything other than continue to allow Lutz to use the roads. The court cannot assume, since it certainly hasn't occurred in the past, that the association or any other owner, if joined, will appear or contest. It cannot be assumed that once this case is finally decided that the other owners or the association on their behalf won't decide to amend CCRs, or by some other method, allow Lutz continuing access in order to avoid further disputes. Other owners and the owners association may

Š

think twice about incurring attorney fees to defend against Lutz defenses of prescriptive easement, estoppel, waiver, laches and otherwise.

Ť

Lutz use of the roads (their rights if you will) has in reality been authorized amicably, or at least without litigation against Lutz, with Buffington being the lone exception. This is simply not a case to which CR 19 applies. Joinder is supposed to result in judicial and court efficiency and economy. Buffington's desire is to create litigation that is wholly unnecessary.

Neither other owners or the owners association have claimed an interest relating to the subject of this action which requires CR 19(a)(2)(A) analysis.³ They have complaints about Lutz tenants but haven't taken action to become a party in this matter, or commence a separate action against Lutz. Not for 18 years. Resolving this case between these two parties does not impair or impede the protection of any other owner's "interest." These other owners' interests may now be subject to many additional defenses if they try to block Lutz access, but there is no effect upon them unless they now try to prevent Lutz from using what he has in the past.

³ CR 19(a) is set forth in Appendix 1 hereto.

Under CR 19(a)(2)(B) other parties are not necessary to prevent any additional harm or obligation as to Buffington. The association and the other owners can't fault her for exercising her rights even though Lutz prevailed.

Under CR 19(a)(1) the other owners and the association did not need to be parties to finally arrive at the final relief needed as between Buffington and Lutz. The private way granted to Lutz by the trial court simply returns matters to the long standing status quo as between the other owners and the association. Buffington is properly compensated for the taking in accordance with the law. If Buffington prevails and condemnation is denied, then it may well be that Lutz will have to voluntarily abandon the attempt to preserve his access through the Ponderosa Park. Lutz may have to go elsewhere, outside of Ponderosa Park, rather than engage in litigation with multiple parties, pay for multiple appraisals, and incur yet more litigation costs. But, since Lutz prevailed against Buffington, the other owners may see that the attorney fees they have to pay up front to get compensation in a forced condemnation action isn't worth their time and trouble. As to the roads in Ponderosa Park, all owners' parcels are encumbered by the road. Lutz and their tenants don't add enough wear and tear on the roads to result in big number compensation to individual owners. The compensation "taking" or "making use" of an already created road on someone's parcel could be simply a contribution to a portion of the maintenance cost. It could be the other owners would like this dispute to end so that Lutz contributions to the association coffers might resume.

The cases relied upon by Buffington are distinguishable from this case. In *Henry v. Oakville*, 30 Wn. App. 240, 623 P.2d 892 (1981), a declaratory judgment case, the ordinances the trial court invalidated directly affected the non-joined bond holder's interest in getting paid for issuing the bonds under the ordinances. The bondholder clearly had a right to be heard in a case where the relief sought was to terminate the bond holder's right to receive 40 years of payments from the City. The bond holder had an immediate interest in the proceeding because the trial court's invalidation of the subject ordinances meant the bond holder wouldn't even receive its first payment. The trial court was reversed and remanded. The case was not dismissed.

Treyz v. Pierce County, 118 Wn. App. 458, 76 P.2d 292 (2003) was another declaratory judgment proceeding regarding the validity of a county ordinance. The challenged ordinances were Pierce County's attempt to revamp and consolidate its county District Courts. Treyz, a part

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